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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they
never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. We
make such forward-looking statements pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other federal
securities laws. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements. In
some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” or the negative of these words or other comparable
terminology. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

2«  «

” « 3« ” « »

. our anticipated cash needs and our estimates regarding our capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;

. federal, state, and non-U.S. regulatory requirements, including regulation of our current or any other future product candidates by the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”);

. the success, timing and cost of our planned Phase 2 clinical trials and anticipated Phase 3 program for trabodenoson as a monotherapy
and Phase 2 program for our fixed-dose combination, or FDC, product candidate, including statements regarding the timing of initiation
and completion of the trials;

. the timing of and our ability to submit regulatory filings with the FDA and to obtain and maintain FDA or other regulatory authority
approval of, or other action with respect to, our product candidates;

. our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy, including with respect to our planned sales force in the
United States and our partnering and collaboration efforts outside the United States;

. third-party payor reimbursement for our current product candidates or any other potential products;
. our expectations regarding the clinical efficacy of our product candidates and results of our clinical trials;
. the glaucoma patient market size and the rate and degree of market adoption of our product candidates by ophthalmologists, optometrists

and patients;

. the timing, cost or other aspects of the commercial launch of our product candidates and potential future sales of our current product
candidates or any other potential products;

. our expectations regarding licensing, acquisitions and strategic operations;

. the potential advantages of our product candidates;

. our competitors and their product candidates, including our expectations regarding those competing product candidates;

. our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights, including our patented and trade secret protected proprietary rights in

our product candidates; and

. anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the markets in which we operate.
We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Any forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q reflect our current views with respect to future events or to our future
financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements
to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that may
cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, those listed under Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements for any reason,
even if new information becomes available in the future.



This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our business, and the
markets for certain diseases, including data regarding the estimated size of those markets, and the incidence and prevalence of certain medical conditions.
Information that is based on estimates, forecasts, projections, market research or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events
or circumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances reflected in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained this
industry, business, market and other data from reports, research surveys, studies and similar data prepared by market research firms and other third parties,
industry, medical and general publications, government data and similar sources.
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements
Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except for share and per share amounts)
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Notes payable, current portion
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Accrued interest
Convertible bridge notes
Convertible bridge notes redemption rights derivative
Total current liabilities
2020 Convertible Notes, net of debt discount of $12,333
Notes payable, net of current portion
Warrant liabilities
2020 Convertible Notes derivative
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Series AA redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2015; and 25,757,874 shares authorized, 24,057,013 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2014
Series X redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding
at March 31, 2015; 2,902,050 shares authorized and 1,892,320 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2014
Total redeemable convertible preferred stock
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6)

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):

Preferred Stock. $0.001 par value: 5,000,000 shares authorized and 0 shares issued or outstanding

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 120,000,000 shares and 43,509,727 shares authorized at March 31, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively; 16,327,003 shares and 1,020,088 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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March 31, 2015

December 31, 2014

$ 53,139 $ 3,618
301 52
53,440 3,670
2,086 1,850

$ 55526 $ 5,520
$ — $ 3,063
1,301 1,146
1,052 992
104 —

— 1,541

— 480
2,457 7,222
8,667 —
— 2,550

— 482
10,426 —
24 24
21,574 10,278
— 46,253

— 548

— 46,801

163 10
163,292 76,472

(129,503) (128,041)

33,952 (51,559)
$ 55526 $ 5,520
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Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months ended March 31,

2015 2014

Operating expenses:

Research and development $  (1,069) $ (1,550)

General and administrative (1,980) (162)

Loss from operations (3,049) (1,712)
Interest expense (474) (243)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (683) —
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 267 (193)
Change in fair value of convertible bridge notes redemption rights derivative 480 —
Change in fair value of 2020 Convertible Notes derivative 1,997 —

Net loss $ (1,462) $ (2,148)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders—basic and diluted $ (0.21) $ (3.08)
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding—basic and diluted 7,677,575 1,020,088

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation

Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:
Noncash interest expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Change in fair value of convertible bridge notes redemption rights derivative
Change in fair value of 2020 Convertible Notes derivative
Stock-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net cash provided by investing activities:
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in initial public offering, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of 2020 Convertible Notes in initial public offering
Payments of 2020 Convertible Notes issuance costs
Principal and termination payments on notes payable
Net cash provided by financing activities:
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Accrual of Series AA preferred stock dividends

Conversion of Series AA preferred stock into common stock upon initial public offering
Conversion of Series X preferred stock into common stock upon initial public offering
Conversion of Convertible Bridge Notes into common stock upon initial public offering
Accretion of Series AA preferred stock to redemption value

Reclassification of fair value of warrant liability to equity upon initial public offering
Reclassification of deferred public offering costs to stockholders’s equity

Reclassification of deferred public offering costs to other assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Three months ended March 31,

2015 2014
$  (1,462) $  (2,148)
274 51
522 —
(267) 193
(480) —
(1,997) —
1,364 2
(271) 29
154 (36)
170 54
(1,993) (1,855)
38,155 —
21,000 —
(1,841) —
(5,800) —
51,514 —
49,521 (1,855)
3,618 12,793
$ 53139 $ 10,938
$ 89 § 192
$ — $ 794
$ 46383 $ —
$ 548 S -
$ 2,028 $ —
$ 130 $ 199
$ 215 $ —
$ 1,59 $ —
$ 256 $ —
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INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Organization and Operations

Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation (the “Company”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company advancing molecules with novel
mechanisms of action to address significant diseases of the eye. The Company’s business strategy is to develop and progress its product candidates through
human clinical trials. The Company’s headquarters is located in Lexington, Massachusetts.

The Company has devoted substantially all of its efforts to research and development, including clinical trials of its product candidates. The
Company has not completed the development of any product candidates. The Company has no current source of revenue to sustain present activities and does
not expect to generate revenue until and unless the Company receives regulatory approval of and successfully commercializes its product candidates. The
Company is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties similar to those of other life science companies developing new products, including, among others,
the risks related to the necessity to obtain adequate additional financing, to successfully develop product candidates, to obtain regulatory approval of products
candidates, to comply with government regulations, to successfully commercialize its potential products, to the protection of proprietary technology and to the
dependence on key individuals.

In February 2015, the Company completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”) of (i) 6,667,000 shares of common stock at a price of $6.00 per
share and (ii) $20,000 aggregate principal amount of 5.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020 (the “2020 Convertible Notes”). In March 2015 the
underwriters purchased 299,333 shares of common stock at $6.00 per share and $1,000 of the 2020 Convertible Notes pursuant to exercises of their
overallotment options. The Company received net proceeds of $36,565 after deducting underwriting discounts and offering-related costs, from its equity
issuances and $18,903 in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and offering-related costs, from its debt issuances (see Note 4). Prior to this the
Company has funded its operations primarily through the sale of preferred stock and issuance of convertible promissory notes and notes payable. As of
March 31, 2015, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $129,503 and cash and cash equivalents of $53,139. The Company estimates that it has
sufficient funding to sustain operations for 18 months.

The Company will need to expend substantial resources for research and development, including costs associated with the clinical testing of its
product candidates and will need to obtain additional financing to fund its operations and to conduct trials for its product candidates. If such products were to
receive regulatory approval, the Company would need to prepare for the potential commercialization of its product candidates and fund the commercial
launch and continued marketing of its products. The Company expects operating expenses will substantially increase in the future related to additional clinical
testing and to support an increased infrastructure to support expanded operations and being a public company.

The Company will require additional funding in the future and may not be able to raise such additional funds. The Company expects losses will
continue as it conducts research and development activities. The Company will seek to finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings,
license agreements, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, or any combination thereof. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased
fixed payment obligations and could also result in restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on the
Company’s ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact the ability of the Company
to conduct its business. If adequate funds are not available, the Company would delay, reduce or eliminate research and development programs and reduce
administrative expenses. The Company may seek to access the public or private capital markets whenever conditions are favorable, even if it does not have an
immediate need for additional capital at that time. In addition, if the Company raises additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing
arrangements with third parties, it may have to relinquish valuable rights to its technologies, future revenue streams or product candidates or to grant licenses
on terms that may not be favorable to it. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient funding, it may be unable to continue to operate. There is no assurance
that the Company will be successful in obtaining sufficient financing on acceptable terms and conditions to fund continuing operations, if at all. The failure of
the Company to obtain sufficient funds on acceptable terms when needed could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations and financial condition.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation—The Company’s interim financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the Company has made all necessary adjustments, which include normal
recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position and results of operations for the interim periods presented. Certain
information and disclosures normally included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted. These
interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31,
2014 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results for the three months ended March 31, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for a full year, any other interim periods or any future year or period.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and
assumptions include the valuation of stock options used for the calculation of stock-based compensation, fair value of warrant liabilities and other derivative
financial instruments, and calculation of accruals related to research and clinical development.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents consists of bank deposits and money market accounts. Cash equivalents are carried at
cost which approximates fair value due to their short-term nature and which the Company believes do not have a material exposure to credit risk. The
Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalent balances in the form of money market, savings or operating accounts with financial
institutions that management believes are creditworthy. The Company’s cash and cash equivalent accounts, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The
Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

Deferred Public Offering Costs—Deferred public offering costs, which consist primarily of direct, incremental legal, accounting, SEC and
NASDAQ fees relating to the IPO and issuance of the 2020 Convertible Notes, were capitalized as a component of other assets in the accompanying balance
sheet as of December 31, 2014. At December 31, 2014, the Company had $1,846 of deferred public offering costs. In the three months ended March 31, 2015,
the Company incurred an additional $1,088 of public of offering costs and allocated $2,307 of the aggregate public offering costs to the equity offering and
$627 to the debt offering which were recorded as deferred financing costs and are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the 2020 Convertible
Notes.

Deferred Financing Costs—Financing costs incurred in connection with the Company’s notes payable, convertible bridge notes and 2020
Convertible Notes were capitalized at the inception of the notes and are amortized over the term of the respective notes using the effective interest rate

method. Amortization of deferred financing costs were $44 and $51 in the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Research and Development Costs—Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred and include, but are not limited to:

. employee-related expenses including salaries, benefits, travel and stock-based compensation expense for research and development
personnel;
. expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations that conduct clinical and preclinical studies, contract

manufacturing organizations and consultants;
. costs associated with preclinical and development activities; and

. costs associated with regulatory operations.
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Costs for certain development activities, such as clinical studies, are recognized based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific
tasks using data such as patient enrollment, clinical site activations, and information provided to the Company by its vendors on their actual costs incurred.
Payments for these activities are based on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may differ from the patterns of costs incurred, and are reflected in
the financial statements as accrued expenses, or prepaid expenses and other current assets, if the related services have not been provided.

Stock-Based Compensation—The Company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments
based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. That cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period during which the employee is required to
provide service in exchange for the award. The fair value of options on the date of grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on
key assumptions such as stock price, expected volatility and expected term. The Company’s estimates of these assumptions are primarily based on third-party
valuations, historical data, peer company data and judgment regarding future trends and factors.

The Company accounts for stock options issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to Non-employees, which requires valuing the stock options
on their grant date and measuring such stock options at their current fair value as they vest.

Fair Value Measurements—The Company is required to disclose information on all assets and liabilities reported at fair value that enables an
assessment of the inputs used in determining the reported fair values. ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), establishes a
hierarchy of inputs used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data
obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the inputs that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair value
hierarchy applies only to the valuation inputs used in determining the reported fair value of the investments and is not a measure of the investment credit
quality. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1—Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to
access at the measurement date.

Level 2—Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are
observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3—Valuations that require inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions that are both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservable.

To the extent that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in
Level 3. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate their respective carrying values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The Company’s assets and
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis include its warrant liabilities, convertible notes redemption rights derivative and 2020 Convertible Notes
derivative (see Note 7).

Derivative Financial Instruments—All derivatives are recorded as assets or liabilities at fair value, and the changes in fair value are
immediately included in earnings, as the derivatives had not been formally designated as hedges for accounting purposes. The Company’s derivative financial
instruments include bifurcated embedded derivatives that were identified within the 2020 Convertible Notes and the Convertible Bridge Notes (see Notes 4
and 8).

Net loss per share—The Company calculates net loss per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings per Share. Basic earnings (loss) per
share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period, without consideration of unissued common stock equivalents. The net loss applicable to common stockholders is determined by
the reported net loss for the period and deducting dividends accrued and accretion of preferred stock. Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average common shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of common stock options, warrants, and convertible preferred stock and accrued but unpaid
convertible preferred stock dividends. In periods where a net loss is recorded, no effect is given to potentially dilutive securities, as their effect would be anti-
dilutive.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to the Company’s common stockholders:

For the three months ended March 31,

2015 2014
Numerator:
Net loss $ (1,462) $ (2,148)
Accretion and dividends on convertible preferred stock (130) (993)
Net loss applicable to common stockholders (1,592) (3,141)
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted 7,677,575 1,020,088
Net loss per share applicable to common stockholders—basic and diluted $ 0.21) $ (3.08)

The following common stock equivalents were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated as including
them would have an anti-dilutive effect:

March 31,
2015 2014
Series AA preferred stock — 6,906,170
Series X preferred stock — 466,319
Share issuable upon conversion of the 2020 Convertible Notes 3,333,333 —
Warrants for Series AA preferred stock 56,408 266,428
Stock options 911,075 11,835
Total 4,300,816 7,650,752

Subsequent Events—The Company considers events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but prior to the issuance of the
financial statements to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that require additional disclosure. The Company has
completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through the date the financial statements were issued.

9
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3. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2015 2014

Research and development $ 18 $ 116
Government payable 429 421
Compensation and benefits 345 293
Professional fees 244 155
Other 16 7
Total $ 1,052 $ 992

4. Debt
2020 Convertible Notes

On February 23, 2015, the Company issued an aggregate of $20,000 of the 2020 Convertible Notes pursuant to its IPO. On March 24, 2015, the
Company issued an additional $1,000 of 2020 Convertible Notes pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters’ overallotment option. The 2020 Convertible
Notes mature on February 15, 2020 (“Maturity Date), are unsecured and accrue interest at a rate of 5.0% per annum, payable semi-annually on February 15
and August 15 of each year. In connection with the issuance of the 2020 Convertible Notes, the Company incurred $2,097 of financing costs which were
recorded in other assets on the balance sheet at March 31, 2015.

Each holder of a 2020 Convertible Note (the “Holder”), has the option to convert all or any portion of such note at an initial conversion rate of
158.7302 shares of the Company’s common stock per $1 principal amount of 2020 Convertible Notes (the “Conversion Rate”). The Conversion Rate is
subject to adjustment from time to time upon the occurrence of certain events, including the issuance of stock dividends and payment of cash dividends. For
any conversion that occurs on or after July 23, 2015, the Company will, in addition to the other consideration payable, make an interest make-whole payment
(an “Interest Make-Whole Payment”) to such converting Holder equal to the sum of the present values of the scheduled payments of interest that would have
been made on the notes to be converted had such notes remained outstanding from the date of the conversion (the “Conversion Date”) through the earlier of
(i) the date that is three years after the Conversion Date and (ii) the Maturity Date if the Notes had not been so converted or otherwise repurchased. Present
values for the Interest Make-Whole Payment will be calculated using a discount rate equal to 2%. The Company may satisfy its obligation to pay any Interest
Make-Whole Payment, at its election, in cash, shares of common stock or a combination thereof.

The 2020 Convertible Notes are convertible, at the holder’s option, upon a fundamental change (“Fundamental Change”), as defined in the
Indenture (“Indenture”). If a holder elects to convert its notes upon a Fundamental Change, the Company shall increase the Conversion Rate for the Notes so
surrendered for conversion by a number of additional shares of common stock by which the Conversion Rate shall be increased per $1 principal amount of
notes for each stock price and make-whole Fundamental Change effective date as set forth in the Indenture. The additional shares range from 7.9364 to 0.

Upon a Fundamental Change, each Holder shall have the right to require the Company to repurchase for cash all of such Holder’s notes, or any
portion thereof that is equal to $1 or an integral multiple of $1. The repurchase price of the notes will equal 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus
accrued and unpaid interest thereon. However, if the repurchase occurs after a regular record date for an interest payment, but before the distribution date of
that interest payment, the Holder will receive the regular interest payment and the repurchase price will only equal 100% of the principal amount of the notes
to be repurchased.

10
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The 2020 Convertible Notes can be redeemed at the holder’s option upon an event of default (“Event of Default”). If an Event of Default (other
than certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization involving the Company) occurs and is continuing, the Trustee by notice to the Company, or
the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding notes by written notice to the Company and the Trustee, may declare 100% of the principal
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on all of the notes to be due and payable immediately. Upon the occurrence of certain Events of Default relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization involving the Company, 100% of the principal and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on all of the notes will
become due and payable automatically.

The Indenture provides that, to the extent the Company elects and for up to 180 days, the sole remedy for an Event of Default relating to certain
failures by the Company to comply with certain reporting covenants in the Indenture consists exclusively of the right to receive additional interest
(“Additional Interest”) on the notes. The Additional Interest consists of interest at an additional rate of 0.25% per annum for the first 90 days after the Event
of Default. For the 91st to 180th day after the Event of Default the Additional Interest shall consist of interest at an additional rate of 0.50% per annum. After
180 days, if the Event of Default is not cured or waived, the notes are subject to acceleration as provided in Section 6.02 of the Indenture.

The Company determined that the conversion option and Interest Make-Whole Payments and the Additional Interest were embedded derivatives
that require bifurcation and separate accounting under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Based on the characteristics of the (i) conversion option including
make-whole provision, (ii) the Additional Interest, and (iii) the notes, we estimated the fair value of the conversion option including make-whole and the
Additional Interest using the “with” and “without” method. Using this methodology, we first valued the notes with the conversion option including make-
whole provision but excluding the Additional Interest (the “with” scenario) and subsequently valued the notes without the conversion option including make-
whole provision and excluding the Additional Interest (the “without” scenario). The difference between the fair values of the notes in the “with” and
“without” scenarios was the concluded fair value of the conversion option including make-whole provision as of the measurement date. We developed an
estimate of fair value for the 2020 Convertible Notes excluding the Additional Interest using a binomial lattice model. We modeled the decision to convert or
hold by considering the maximum of the conversion or hold value at every node of the lattice in which the notes are convertible and choosing the action that
maximizes the return to the notes’ holders. The significant assumptions used in the binomial model were: the market yield and the expected volatility.

We estimated the fair value of the Additional Interest using an income approach, specifically, the risk-neutral debt valuation method that is used
to derive the value of a debt instrument using the expected cash flows and the risk-free rate. The significant assumptions used in estimating the expected cash
flows were the market yield used to determine the risk-neutral probability of default and the expected recovery rate upon default.

The Company recorded $11,850 as the fair value of the combined embedded derivative liability on February 23, 2015, with a corresponding
amount recorded as a discount to the 2020 Convertible Notes, related to the initial issuance of the 2020 Convertible Notes. The Company recorded
approximately $573 of additional derivative liability and discount to the notes as the fair value of the combined embedded derivative on March 24, 2015 upon
the issuance of additional 2020 Convertible Notes for the exercise of the underwriters’ overallotment option. The deferred financing costs which are recorded
in other assets are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the 2020 Convertible Notes using the effective interest method. Changes in the fair
value of the combined embedded derivative liability are recorded in earnings in the period in which the changes occur. As of March 31, 2015, the fair value of
the combined embedded derivative liability was $10,426. The change in the estimated fair value of the combined embedded derivative liability of $1,997 was
recorded in earnings in the three months ended March 31, 2015. Interest expense related to the 2020 Convertible Notes for the three months ended March 31,
2015 was $209, including $105 related to amortization of the issuance costs. As of March 31, 2015, the balance of debt discount and issuance costs were
$12,333 and $2,082, respectively. At March 31, 2015, interest accrued on the 2020 Convertible Notes was $104 and is reflected in accrued interest on the
balance sheet.
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The following table summarizes how the issuance of the 2020 Convertible Notes are reflected on the balance sheet at March 31, 2015:

March 31, 2015

Gross proceeds $ 21,000
Initial value of embedded derivatives (12,423)
Amortization of debt discount 90
Carrying value $ 8,667

Convertible Bridge Notes

In December 2014, the Company sold an aggregate of $2,000 of subordinated convertible promissory notes to existing stockholders (the
“Convertible Bridge Notes”). The Convertible Bridge Notes mature on June 30, 2015 and accrue interest at the rate of 8% per annum and are subordinate to
all other senior indebtedness of the Company. Upon the closing of an IPO of common stock of at least $40,000 in gross proceeds, all outstanding principal
and accrued interest thereon will automatically convert into common stock at the IPO price.

Pursuant to the IPO in February 2015, the Convertible Bridge Notes were converted into 337,932 shares of common stock based upon the IPO
common share offering price of $6.00. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company reflected as interest expense related to the Convertible
Bridge Notes (i) $23 related to the 8% coupon rate and (ii) $128 of amortization of the initial fair value of the redemption rights derivative and issuance costs.
In connection with the conversion of the Convertible Bridge Notes into common stock, the Company recorded a (i) a $480 gain in change in fair value of the
of the Convertible Bridge Notes redemption rights derivative from the write off of the derivative and (ii) a loss on extinguishment of debt of $360 from the
acceleration of the unamortized balance of the debt discount and issuance costs.

Notes Payable

On June 28, 2013, the Company entered into two Loan and Security Agreements (the “Loan Agreements” or “Loans”) with two financial entities
(the “Lenders”) pursuant to which the Company issued Loans for $3,500 to each lender and received proceeds of $6,915 net of costs and fees payable to the
lenders. The Loans bear interest at a rate per annum of 11.0%. The Loans mature on October 1, 2016 and required interest-only payments for the initial 12
months and thereafter required repayment of the principal balance with interest in 27 monthly installments. Also, upon full repayment or maturity of the
Loans, the Lenders are due a termination payment of 3.0% of the initial principal amount of the Loans, or $210 (the “Loan Termination Payment”).

In connection with the Loan Agreements, the Company issued to the Lenders fully-vested warrants to purchase either, at the election of the
warrant holder, (i) 228,906 shares of the Company’s Series AA preferred stock at an exercise price of $1.529 per share, or (ii) $350 of stock in the next round
stock, as defined in the Loan Agreements, at a price that is the lowest effective price per share that is offered in the next round. The warrants expire on the
earlier of (i) ten years after the date of grant, or (ii) immediately prior to an acquisition transaction, as defined in the warrants. The Company determined that
the warrants should initially be classified as a liability based upon the nature of the underlying Series AA preferred stock.

In connection with the Company’s IPO in February 2015, the Company exercised its right to terminate the Loan Agreements by paying the
$5,347 principal balance due, the $210 Loan Termination Payment, a $160 prepayment fee calculated as 3% of the principal balance due at the time of the
termination, plus $23 of interest accrued from February 1, 2015 through the payoff date. The Company made a scheduled principal payment of $243 in
January 2015.

For the three months ended March 31, 2015, interest expense related to the Loan Agreements was $115, including $26 related to accretion of the
debt discount and termination payment. Additionally in the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company recorded a charge for loss on extinguishment
of debt of $322 related to the write-off of the unamortized debt discount.

For the three months ended March 31, 2014, interest expense related to the Loan Agreements was $243, including $51 related to accretion of the
debt discount and termination payment.
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Subsequent to the Company’s IPO, the warrants issued to the lenders became exercisable for 56,408 shares of common stock at $6.204 per share.
The Company calculated the fair value of the warrants at the IPO date using a Black Scholes model using the following assumptions: a fair value of $6.00 per
share (the IPO price of the Company’s common stock), 8.4 years to maturity, 1.70% risk-free rate, and 60% volatility. The Company determined the fair value
as of the warrant liability at the IPO date to be $215 and recorded a gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $267 in the statement of operations
for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The Company determined that subsequent to this change, the warrants were exercisable at a fixed price for a
fixed number of shares of common stock and qualified for equity classification under the accounting guidance, and the fair value of $215 was reclassified to
additional paid-in capital as of the IPO date during the three months ended March 31, 2015.

5. Equity
Authorized Shares

As of December 31, 2014, the authorized stock of the Company was 43,509,727 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share, and
28,659,924 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, of which 25,757,874 shares are authorized Series AA redeemable convertible preferred
stock (the “Series AA preferred stock™) and 2,902,050 shares are authorized as Series X redeemable convertible preferred stock (the “Series X preferred
stock”) (collectively, the “Preferred Stock™).

In February 2015, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved an amendment of the Company’s certificate of incorporation such
that upon the closing of the IPO, the Company’s authorized capital stock will consist of 120,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and
5,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share.

Reverse Stock Splits

In November 2014, the board of directors and the stockholders of the Company approved a 1-for-3.39 reverse stock split of the Company’s
outstanding common stock and in January 2015, the board of directors and the stockholders of the Company approved a 1-for-1.197 reverse stock split of the
Company’s outstanding common stock. Shares of common stock underlying outstanding stock options were proportionally reduced and the respective
exercise prices were proportionally increased in accordance with the terms of the option agreements. The Company’s historical share and per share
information has been retroactively adjusted in the financial statements presented to give effect to these reverse stock splits, including reclassifying an amount
equal to the reduction in par value to additional paid-in capital.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the IPO, all of the Company’s outstanding 25,949,333 shares of Series AA and Series X preferred stock, including all accrued and
unpaid dividends thereon, automatically converted into 8,002,650 shares of common stock. Pursuant to the conversion, the $46,383 carrying value of the
Series AA preferred stock at the time of the IPO was reclassified as $75 to common stock par value and $46,308 additional paid-in capital and the $548
carrying value of the Series X preferred stock at the time of the IPO was reclassified as $5 to common stock par value and $543 additional paid-in capital.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company modified the terms of 558,862 shares of Series X preferred stock such that the
Company’s repurchase right relative to those shares expired upon consummation of the IPO. The Company estimated the fair value of the modified award at
the modification date to be $950 and recognized this amount as stock-based compensation expense in the three months ended March 31, 2015.

Common Stock

All preferences, voting powers, relative, participating, optional, or other specific rights and privileges, limitations, or restrictions of the common
stock are expressly subject to those that may be fixed with respect to any shares of preferred stock. Common stockholders are entitled to one vote per share,
and to receive dividends, when and if declared by the Board. At March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, there were 16,327,003 and 1,020,088 shares
common stock outstanding, respectively.
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2014 Stock Option and Incentive Plan

In August 2014, the Company’s board of directors adopted the 2014 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) for the issuance of
incentive and non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, and other equity awards, all for common stock, as determined by the board of directors to
employees, officers, directors, consultants, and advisors of the Company and its subsidiaries. In November 2014, the Board of Directors increased the number
of shares available for grant under the terms of the 2014 Plan to the number of shares that represents 13.7% of the outstanding common stock after giving
effect to the issuance of shares relating to the Company’s then-proposed IPO (not including any shares purchased by the underwriters pursuant to their
overallotment option). Subsequent to the IPO in February 2015, there were 2,175,216 shares available for grant under the 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan expires in
August 2024.

On August 28, 2014, the Board of Directors granted 840,975, ten-year term, stock options to officers of the Company at an exercise price of
$4.342 per share, the fair market value of the common stock as determined by the Board of Directors, on the condition that the options would be of no further
force and effect if the Company had not consummated an IPO prior to the one-year anniversary of the grant date (the “IPO Condition”). The IPO Condition
was met upon the Company’s February 2015 IPO. These stock options will vest 25% on the one-year anniversary of the grant date and remaining 75% will
vest equally over the following 35 monthly anniversaries. Additionally on August 28, 2014, the Board of Directors granted 59,142 stock options that were
fully vested on the date of the grant.

The fair value of each stock option granted was estimated on the grant date using a Black-Scholes stock option pricing model based on the
following assumptions: an expected term of 5 to 6.25 years; expected stock price volatility of 83.3% to 92.5%; a risk free rate of 1.63% to 1.84%; and a
dividend yield of 0%. The Company will recognize $2,798 of stock-based compensation expense for these stock options on a straight-line basis commencing
upon the grant date in August 2014 through the final vesting date in August 2018. As a result of the resolution of the IPO Condition, the three months ended
March 31, 2015 reflects stock compensation expense calculated from the grant date in August 2014 through March 31, 2015. The Company recorded an
aggregate stock compensation expense of $414 for these stock options, $218 in general and administrative expense and $196 in research and development
expense, in the three months ended March 31, 2015.

The following table summarizes activity for the three months ended March 31, 2015 under the 2014 Plan:

Weighted Average
Exercise Price Per Aggregate
Number of Shares Share Intrinsic Value
Options outstanding at December 31, 2014 900,117 $ 4.342 $ 970
Granted during the period — —
Exercised during the period — —
Expired during the period — —
Options outstanding at March 31, 2015 900,117 $ 4.342 $ 970
Options exercisable at March 31, 2015 59,142 $ 4.342 $ 64
Weighted-average years remaining on contractual life 9.4
Unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
stock options $ 2,384

Aggregate intrinsic value is based on $5.42 per share, the closing price of common stock on March 31, 2015.
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The Company has outstanding stock options pursuant to its 2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. The following table summarizes activity for
the three months ended March 31, 2015 under the 2004 Plan:

Weighted Average

Exercise Price Per Aggregate
Number of Shares Share Intrinsic Value

Options outstanding at December 31, 2014 10,958 $ 40.578 $ =

Granted during the period — —

Exercised during the period — —

Expired during the period — —
Options outstanding at March 31, 2015 10,958 $ 40.578 $ —
Options exercisable at March 31, 2015 10,958 $ 40.578 $ —
Weighted-average years remaining on contractual life 3.0
Unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested

stock options $ —

The exercise price exceeds the $5.42 closing price of common stock on March 31, 2015, therefore there is no intrinsic value of the outstanding
2004 Plan stock options.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In November 2014 the Company’s board of directors adopted and the stockholders approved the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP.
The Company’s board of directors has authorized the issuance of a number of shares of common stock issuable under the ESPP to the number that represents
1% of our outstanding common stock outstanding after the IPO, or 160,276 shares. The ESPP provides that the number of shares reserved and available for
issuance under the ESPP shall be cumulatively increased each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2016, by the lesser of (i) 600,000 shares of common stock
or (ii) the number of shares necessary to set the number of shares of Common Stock under the Plan at 1% percent of the outstanding number of shares as of
January 1 of the applicable year. However, the board of directors reserves the right to determine that there will be no increase for any year or that any increase
will be for a lesser number of shares. As of March 31, 2015, no shares have been issued pursuant to the ESPP.

6. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating leases

The Company leases office space in Lexington, Massachusetts under a lease agreement expiring in September 2015. Rent expense for each of the
three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 was $15. The Company is committed to pay approximately $43 under the terms of the lease from April 1, 2015
through September 2015.

Indemnification Arrangements

As permitted under Delaware law, the Company’s bylaws provide that the Company will indemnify any director, officer, employee or agent of
the Company or anyone serving in these capacities. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to pay is unlimited.
The Company has insurance that reduces its monetary exposure and would enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result, the Company
believes that the estimated fair value of these indemnification commitments is minimal.

Throughout the normal course of business, the Company has agreements with vendors that provide goods and services required by the Company
to run its business. In some instances, vendor agreements include language that requires the Company to indemnify the vendor from certain damages caused
by the Company’s use of the vendor’s goods and/or services. The Company has insurance that would allow it to recover a portion of any future amounts that
could arise from these indemnifications. As a result, the Company believes that the estimated fair value of these indemnification commitments is minimal.
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7. Fair Value of Financial Measurements
Items measured at fair value on a recurring basis are convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities, the convertible bridge notes redemption rights

derivative and the 2020 Convertible Notes derivative.

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial instruments that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair
value hierarchy:

Fair Value Measurements at
March 31, 2015

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities:
2020 Convertible Notes derivative $10,426 $ — $ — $10,426

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2014

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities:
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability $ 482 $ — $ — $ 482
Convertible bridge notes redemption rights derivative $ 480 $ — $ — $ 480

2020 Convertible Notes Derivative

The fair value methodologies related to the 2020 Convertible Notes derivative are discussed in Note 4.

Convertible preferred stock warrant liability

As of December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2014, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase Series AA preferred
stock in connection with Series AA preferred stock issued in 2013 and the Loan Agreements. The Series AA warrant liabilities were recorded at their fair
value on the date of issuance and are remeasured on each subsequent balance sheet date and as of the warrant exercise date, with fair value changes
recognized as income (decrease in fair value) or expense (increase in fair value) in other income (expense) in the statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2014, the Company used a hybrid valuation model in which a Monte Carlo
simulation was used to calculate the fair value of the Company’s equity securities under three scenarios including: (i) an IPO scenario, (ii) a merger or
acquisition scenario or (iii) a stay private scenario. The Company then probability-weighted each equity value derived from the Monte Carlo simulation based
upon the Company’s estimate of the likelihood of the exit scenario occurring.

The assumptions used in calculating the estimated fair value of the warrants represent the Company’s best estimates and include probabilities of
settlement scenarios, enterprise value, time to liquidity, risk-free interest rates, discount for lack of marketability and volatility. The estimates are based, in
part, on subjective assumptions and could differ materially in the future. Generally, increases or decreases in the fair value of the underlying convertible
preferred stock would result in a directionally similar impact in the fair value
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measurement of the warrant liability. The following table details the assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation models used to estimate the fair value of
the Series AA preferred stock warrants at December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2014:

December 31, 2013 March 31, 2014 December 31, 2014
Volatility 60% 65% 65% - 70%
Expected term (years) 1.00 - 1.25 0.50 - 0.75 0.17-0.50
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free rate 0.13-0.19% 0.06% - 0.09% 0.02% - 0.03%

In addition to the assumptions above, the Company’s estimated fair value of the Series AA preferred stock warrant liabilities is calculated using
other key assumptions including the probability of an exit event, the enterprise value as determined on an income approach, and a discount for lack of
marketability. Management, with the assistance of an independent valuation firm, made these subjective determinations based on available current
information. (See Note 4 of Notes to Financial Statements.)

Convertible Bridge Notes redemption rights derivative liability

The Convertible Bridge Notes redemption rights derivative required separate accounting and was valued using a single income valuation approach. The
Company estimated the fair value of the redemption rights derivative using a “with and without” income valuation approach. Under this approach, the
Company estimated the present value of the fixed interest rate debt based on the fair value of similar debt instruments excluding the embedded feature. This
amount was then compared to the fair value of the debt instrument including the embedded feature using a probability weighted approach by assigning each
embedded derivative feature a probability of occurrence, with consideration provided for the settlement amount including conversion discounts, prepayment
penalties, the expected life of the liability and the applicable discount rate.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company ascribed a probability of occurrence to the Change in Control Redemption Feature of 25%. The
expected life of the feature was the remaining term of the debt and the discount rate was 18.9%. The Company classified the liability within Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as the probability factor and the discount rate are unobservable inputs and significant to the valuation model. As of December 31, 2014,
the fair value of the embedded derivative was $480. Pursuant to the IPO, the Convertible Bridge Notes were redeemed.

During the periods presented, the Company has not changed the manner in which it values liabilities that are measured at fair value using Level 3
inputs. The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period. There were no transfers within the
hierarchy during any of the years presented.

The following table reflects the change in the Company’s Level 3 liabilities for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014:

Convertible bridge notes

Preferred stock redemption rights 2020 Convertible Notes
warrant liabilities derivative liability derivative liability

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 482 $ 480 $ —
Issuance of 2020 Convertible Notes — — 12,423
Change in fair value (267) (480) (1,997)
Reclassification to stockholders’ equity (215) — —
Balance at March 31, 2015 $ — $ — $ 10,426
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 1,888 $ — $ —
Change in fair value 193 — —
Balance at March 31, 2014 $ 2,081 $ — $ —
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Note 8. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company determined that certain embedded features related to the 2020 Convertible Notes and the Convertible Bridge Notes are derivative
financial instruments.

Fair values of derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments consist of the following:

Liability derivatives: Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
December 31, 2014:

Convertible Bridge Notes redemption rights derivative Convertible Bridge Notes redemption rights derivative $ 480
March 31, 2015:

2020 Convertible Notes derivative 2020 Convertible Notes derivative $ 10,426

The effect of derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments on the statement of operations for the three months ended March 31,
2015 consist of the following:

Amount of gain

or (loss)

Derivatives not Location of gain or loss recognized in
designated as recognized in income on income on
hedging instruments derivative derivative
2020 Convertible Change in fair value of 2020
Notes derivative Convertible Notes derivative $ 1,997
Convertible Bridge Change in fair value of
Notes Convertible Bridge Notes

redemption rights derivative $ 480

See Notes 4 and 7 for additional discussion regarding the accounting for and valuation of these derivative financial instruments.

9. Management Incentive Plan

In August 2014, the Company adopted the Amended and Restated 2014 Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”) in which certain of our named
executive officers participate. Pursuant to the MIP, upon a “change in control” (as defined in the MIP), a bonus pool will be created from the proceeds
received in connection with such change in control (ranging from 7 percent to 9.75 percent of transaction proceeds, depending upon the level of transaction
proceeds received in the transaction), and each participant is entitled to receive a bonus equal to a certain percentage of such bonus pool. The MIP terminated
automatically upon the IPO in February 2015.

10. Subsequent Events

The Company has completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through the date these financial statements were issued and has concluded
there are no subsequent events to report.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our condensed
financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of therapies for glaucoma.
Glaucoma is a disease of the eye that is typically characterized by structural evidence of optic nerve damage, vision loss and consistently elevated intraocular
pressure, or IOP. Our lead product candidate, trabodenoson, is a first-in-class selective adenosine mimetic that we rationally designed to lower IOP by
restoring the eye’s natural pressure control mechanism. Our product pipeline includes trabodenoson monotherapy delivered in an eye drop formulation, as
well as a fixed-dose combination, or FDC, of trabodenoson with latanoprost given once-daily. Our completed Phase 2 trial of trabodenoson co-administered
with latanoprost, a prostaglandin analogue, or PGA, demonstrated IOP-lowering in patients who have previously had inadequate response to latanoprost.
These patients represent PGA poor-responders, as evidenced by persistently elevated IOP at levels that typically require the addition of a second drug to
further lower IOP.

In February 2015, we completed our initial public offering (the “IPO”) of (i) 6,667,000 shares of common stock at a price of $6.00 per share and
(ii) $20.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020 (the “2020 Convertible Notes”). In March 2015 the underwriters
purchased 299,333 shares of common stock at $6.00 per share and $1.0 million of the 2020 Convertible Notes pursuant to exercises of their overallotment
options. We received net proceeds of $36.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and offering-related costs, from its equity issuances and
$18.9 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and offering-related costs, from its debt issuances (See Note 4 of Notes to Financial
Statements). Prior to this we funded our operations primarily through the sale of preferred stock and issuance of convertible promissory notes and notes
payable. As of March 31, 2015, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $129.5 million and cash and cash equivalents of $53.1 million. We estimate we
have sufficient funding to sustain operations for 18 months. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

We are planning an End-of-Phase 2 meeting with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, for trabodenoson in the second quarter of
2015. We expect to initiate a Phase 3 program for trabodenoson monotherapy in the third quarter of 2015, which will consist of two Phase 3 pivotal trials and
a long-term safety study. Based on our estimates of the rate of patient enrollment and the current clinical plan, we expect to report top-line data from the first
of the two pivotal Phase 3 trials and our Phase 2 trial of our fixed dose combination product candidate in late 2016.

Since our inception on July 7, 1999, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to business planning, raising capital, product research and
development, applying for and obtaining government and private grants, recruiting management, research and technical staff and other personnel, acquiring
operating assets, and undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials of our lead product candidates.

We have not completed development of any product candidate and we have therefore not generated any revenues from product sales. Prior to
2012, we generated revenues primarily from research grants received from governmental agencies and private companies as well as revenue earned under
licensing and research collaboration contracts. All previously recognized revenue was unrelated to our current development efforts focused on our lead
product candidate, trabodenoson, for the treatment of glaucoma and other diseases of the eye.

Factors Affecting our Results of Operations

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue to invest in research and
development and commence our Phase 3 program of trabodenoson in 2015. We also expect our expenses to increase as we complete formulation and
manufacturing activities of our FDC product candidate and commence clinical trials in 2016. In addition, if we successfully launch trabodenoson as a
monotherapy or any other product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to sales, marketing, manufacturing and
distribution of our products.
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Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. We expect operating expenses to increase
substantially to support an increased infrastructure and expanded operations. Accordingly, we will need to obtain additional funding in connection with our
continuing operations. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or
on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any potential future commercialization
efforts. We will need to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability, and we may never do so. As a result, we expect to incur significant expenses
and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future.

Financial Overview
Revenue

We have not generated any revenue from product sales since our inception and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in
the near future. Our ability to generate revenues will depend on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of trabodenoson and
any other future product candidates. Historically, we generated revenues primarily from research grants received from governmental agencies and private
companies as well as revenue earned under licensing and research collaboration contracts that were unrelated to our current research and development
programs.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of the costs associated with our research and development activities, conducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials and activities related to regulatory filings. Our research and development expenses consist of:

. direct clinical and non-clinical expenses which include expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or
CROs, contract manufacturing organizations and costs associated with preclinical activities and development activities and costs
associated with regulatory activities;

. employee and consultant-related expenses, including compensation, benefits, travel and stock-based compensation expense for research
and development personnel as well as consultants that conduct and support clinical trials and preclinical studies; and

. facilities and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance and other
supplies used in research and development activities.

We expense research and development costs as incurred. We record costs for some development activities, such as clinical trials, based on an evaluation
of the progress to completion of specific tasks using data such as subject enrollment, clinical site activations or other information our vendors provide to us.

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses by type of activity for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014:

Three months ended March 31,

2015 2014

Trabodenoson - direct clinical and non-clinical $ 514 $ 1,223
Personnel and other expenses:

Employee and consultant-related expenses 490 273

Facility expenses 62 43

Other expenses 3 11

Total personnel and other expenses 555 327

Total research and development expenses $ 1,069 $ 1,550
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All research and development efforts and expenses for the three month periods ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 relate to the development of
trabodenoson. We do not track trabodenoson-related expenses by product candidate. All expenses related to trabodenoson as a monotherapy also benefit the
FDC product candidate trabodenoson with latanoprost. We have expended approximately $41 million for external development costs related to trabodenoson
from inception through March 31, 2015.

The process of conducting the necessary clinical research to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time consuming and the successful
development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. Our future research and development expenses will depend on the clinical success of our product
candidates, as well as ongoing assessments of the commercial potential of such product candidates. In addition, we cannot forecast with any degree of
certainty which product candidates may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what degree such
arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements. We expect our research and development expenses to increase in future periods
for the foreseeable future as we seek to complete development of our lead product candidate, trabodenoson, further develop our other product candidates and
expand our research and development personnel to focus on these product candidate development activities.

The successful development and commercialization of our product candidates is highly uncertain. This is due to the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with product development and commercialization, including the uncertainty of:

. the scope, progress, outcome and costs of our clinical trials and other research and development activities;

. the efficacy and potential advantages of our product candidates compared to alternative treatments, including any standard of care;
. the market acceptance of our product candidates;

. obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

. significant and changing government regulation; and

. the timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of trabodenoson or any other product candidate that we may
develop could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the development of that product candidate. For example, if the FDA or
another regulatory authority were to require us to conduct clinical trials or other testing beyond those that we currently contemplate for the completion of
clinical development of trabodenoson or any other product candidate that we may develop or if we experience significant delays in enrollment in any of our
clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development of that product
candidate.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of compensation and related benefit costs, including stock-based compensation for administrative
personnel. Other significant general and administrative expenses include travel costs, professional fees for legal, patents, consulting, auditing and tax services
as well as other direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance and other supplies used in general and administrative activities.
We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in future periods to support increases in our research and development activities and
as a result of increased headcount (especially in our accounting and finance departments), increased stock-based compensation charges, expanded
infrastructure, increased costs for insurance, and increased legal, compliance, accounting and investor and public relations expenses associated with being a
public company.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 and 2014

The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014:

Three Months Ended
March 31, Increase
(in thousands) 2015 2014 (Decrease)
Operating expenses:
Research and development ($ 1,069) ($ 1,550) ($ 481)
General and administrative (1,980) (162) 1,818
Total operating expenses (3,049) (1,712) 1,337
Interest expense (474) (243) 231
Loss on extinguishment of debt (683) — 683
Change in fair value of warrant and derivative liabilities 2,744 (193) (2,937)
Net loss ($ 1,462) ($ 2,148) ($ 686)

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses decreased $0.5 million to $1.1 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2015, as compared to $1.6
million for the three months ended March 31, 2014. CRO and other direct clinical trial expenses decreased by $1.1 million as a result of the completion of our
Phase 2 trial in October 2014. This decrease was partially offset by increases in non-clinical expenses of $0.4 million primarily related to animal toxicology
studies as well as $0.2 million in stock-based compensation.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $1.8 million to $2.0 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2015, as compared to $0.2 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2014. This increase was primarily related to $1.0 million in stock-based compensation related to the elimination of the
Company’s repurchase rights and final vesting related to the Series X preferred shares held by our former CEO and CFO that, as a result of our IPO, were
automatically converted into common shares. The remaining increase was due to higher payroll-related and stock-based compensation expenses of $0.4
million related to the hiring of our current CEO and VP of Finance as well as higher consulting, professional fees and D&O insurance totaling $0.3 million.
Travel expenses, in support of our IPO, also increased by $0.1 million.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $0.2 million to $0.5 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2015, as compared to $0.3 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2014. The increase was due both coupon interest and amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs related to both our
2020 Convertible Notes and our Convertible Bridge Notes.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

The Company recorded loss on extinguishment of debt of $0.7 million in the three months ended March 31, 2015 comprised of $0.4 million of
unamortized debt discount and issuance costs related to our Convertible Bridge Notes and $0.3 million related to unamortized debt discount and issuance
costs and prepayment fees related to our Notes Payable.

Change in fair value of warrant and derivative liabilities

Other income was $2.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015, compared to a loss of ($0.2) million for the three months ended
March 31, 2014. The $2.9 million increase resulted from $2.0 million in non-cash income related to changes in the fair value of our 2020
Convertible Notes derivative, $0.5 million in noncash income related to changes in the fair value of our 2014 Bridge Notes redemption rights
derivative and $0.4 million in noncash income related to changes in the fair value of our warrant liabilities arising from the warrants to purchase
shares of Series AA Preferred Stock.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have incurred accumulated net losses and negative cash flows from our operations. We incurred a net loss of $1.5 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2015 and our accumulated deficit was $129.5 at March 31, 2015. At March 31, 2015 we had $53.1 million of cash and cash

equivalents.

In February 2015, we completed our IPO and concurrent note offering and in March 2015 the underwriters exercised common stock and notes
overallotment options resulting in aggregate net proceeds to us of approximately $55.5 million. As of March 31, 2015 we have outstanding $21.0 million of
2020 Convertible Notes. The Company estimates that it has sufficient funding to sustain operations for 18 months.

In December 2014, the Company sold an aggregate of $2.0 million of the 2014 Bridge Notes. In addition to other terms, the Convertible Bridge
Notes had a maturity of June 30, 2015, accrued interest at the rate of 8% per annum and were subordinate to all other senior indebtedness of the Company.
Upon the closing of our IPO, the Convertible Bridge Notes, including accrued interest, automatically converted into 337,932 shares of our common stock.

On June 28, 2013, we entered into notes payable agreements with two financial entities pursuant to which we issued a $3.5 million note to each
lender and received net proceeds of $6.9 million. The notes bore interest at a rate of 11.0% per annum and had a maturity date of October 1, 2016. In February
2015, we paid the lenders with proceeds from our IPO a total of $5.7 million, which included $5.3 million for the remaining principal and $0.4 million for end
of term and prepayment amounts and accrued interest. These notes payable agreements were then terminated.

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:

Three Months Ended
March 31,
(in thousands) 2015 2014
Cash used in operating activities $(1,993) $(1,855)
Cash provided by investing activities — —
Cash provided by financing activities 51,514 —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents $49,521 $(1,855)

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $2.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and $1.9 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2014. Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2015 principally resulted from our net loss of $1.5 million and
increases in noncash expenses related to changes in the fair value of our 2020 Convertible Notes derivatives, warrant liabilities and convertible notes
redemption rights derivative totaling $2.7 million and a $0.3 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets. These amounts were partially offset by
$1.4 million in noncash stock compensation, $0.5 in noncash loss on extinguishment of debt, a $0.3 million increase in accrued expenses and accounts
payable and $0.3 million in noncash interest expense. Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 principally resulted
from our net loss of $2.1 million partially offset by noncash change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $0.2 million.
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Net cash provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $51.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and reflects the net proceeds from the
issuance of common stock in our IPO of $38.2 million and the proceeds from our concurrent note offering of $21.0 million. We paid $1.8 million in 2015 in
issuance costs related to the 2020 Convertible Notes, resulting in net proceeds in 2015 from the 2020 Convertible Notes of $19.2 million. These net proceeds
from our common stock and 2020 Convertible Notes in 2015 do not reflect an aggregate of $1.8 million of IPO-related costs incurred in 2014. Additionally in
2015, we made $5.8 million of payments related to the principal and termination of our notes payable. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, there was
no cash provided by or used in financing activities.

Operating Capital Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales. We do not know when, or if, we will generate any revenue from product sales.
We do not expect to generate significant revenue from product sales unless and until we obtain regulatory approval of and commercialize one of our current
or future product candidates. We anticipate that we will continue to generate losses for the foreseeable future and we expect the losses to increase as we
continue the development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our product candidates and begin to commercialize any approved products. With the closing
of our IPO in February 2015, we will incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. In addition, subject to obtaining regulatory
approval of any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses for product sales, marketing and manufacturing.
Accordingly, we anticipate that we will need substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity
offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. To the extent that we are able to raise additional capital through the
sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include
liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our existing stockholders. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include
covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends and
may require the issuance of warrants, which could cause potential dilution. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or research programs or to grant
licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be
required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market products or
product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of March 31, 2015:

More
Less than 1to3 3to5 than
(in thousands) Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating lease obligations (1) $ 43 $ 43 $ — $ — $ —
2020 Convertible Notes (2) 26,239 1,039 2,100 23,100 —
Total $26,282 $ 1,082 $2,100 $23,100 $ —

(1) Amounts represent our minimum lease obligations related to our corporate headquarters in Lexington, Massachusetts. The minimum lease payments in
the table do not include related common area maintenance charges or real estate taxes, which costs are variable.
(2) Amounts represent principal and interest on our 2020 Convertible Notes.

We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with CROs and contract manufacturers to assist in the performance of our research and
development activities and other services and products for operating purposes. To the extent that these contracts provide for termination on notice, and
therefore are cancelable contracts, they are not included in the table of contractual obligations and commitments.
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JOBS Act

Under Section 107(b) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, an “emerging growth company” can delay the
adoption of new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards would apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to
avail ourselves of this exemption and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised accounting standards at the same time as other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies. There are other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the JOBS Act that we are currently evaluating. For
example, as an emerging growth company, we are exempt from Sections 14A(a) and (b) of the Exchange Act which would otherwise require us to (i) submit
certain executive compensation matters to stockholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay,” “say-on-frequency” and “golden parachutes” and (ii) disclose
certain executive compensation related items such as the correlation between executive compensation and performance and comparisons of our Chief
Executive Officer’s compensation to our median employee compensation. We also intend to rely on an exemption from the rule requiring us to provide an
auditor’s attestation report on our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rule requiring us to
comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, regarding mandatory audit firm rotation
or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements as the auditor discussion and analysis. We
will continue to remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of the following: December 31, 2020; the last day of the fiscal year in which our
total annual gross revenue is equal to or more than $1 billion; the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the
previous three years; or the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Accrued Research and Development Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued research and development expenses. This
process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on our
behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated costs incurred for the services when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise
notified of the actual costs. The majority of our service providers invoice us in arrears for services performed, on a pre-determined schedule or when
contractual milestones are met; however, some require advanced payments. We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our
financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. Examples of estimated accrued research and development expenses include
fees paid to:

. CROs in connection with performing research and development services on our behalf;

. investigative sites or other providers in connection with clinical trials;

. vendors in connection with non-clinical development activities; and

. vendors related to product manufacturing, development and distribution of clinical supplies.

We base our expenses related to clinical trials on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with multiple
CROs that conduct and manage non-clinical studies and clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary
from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of
services provided and result in a prepayment of the clinical expense. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors such as the successful
enrollment of patients and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be
performed, enrollment of patients, number of sites activated and level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of
services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual or prepaid accordingly. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially
different from amounts actually incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services
performed may vary and may result in us reporting expenses that are too high or too low in any particular period.
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Fair Value Measurements

We are required to disclose information on all assets and liabilities reported at fair value that enables an assessment of the inputs used in
determining the reported fair values. Accounting Standard Codification, or ASC, Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, establishes a
hierarchy of inputs used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data
obtained from sources independent of our company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect our assumptions about the inputs that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability, and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair value hierarchy applies
only to the valuation inputs used in determining the reported fair value of the investments and is not a measure of the investment credit quality. The three
levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

. Level 1—Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to
access at the measurement date;

. Level 2—Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs
are observable, either directly or indirectly;

. Level 3—Valuations that require inputs that reflect our own assumptions that are both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservable.

To the extent that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by us in determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in Level 3. A
financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Our material financial instruments at March 31, 2015 consisted of cash and cash equivalents and the 2020 Convertible Notes derivative liability.
Our material financial instruments at December 31, 2014 consisted of cash and cash equivalents, preferred stock warrant liabilities and a convertible debt
redemption rights derivative. We have determined that all these liabilities are subject to Level 3 fair value measurements and account for them as liabilities
based upon the characteristics and provisions of the underlying instruments. These liabilities were recorded at their fair value on the date of issuance and are
re-measured on each subsequent balance sheet date, with fair value changes recognized as income (decreases in fair value) or expense (increases in fair value)
in the statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the
award. That cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period during which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award.
The fair value of options on the date of grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on key assumptions such as stock price,
expected volatility and expected term. Our estimates of these assumptions are primarily based on third-party valuations, historical data, peer company data
and judgment regarding future trends and factors.

We account for stock options issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of The Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, ASC Subtopic 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to Non-employees, which requires valuing the stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model and re-measuring such stock options at their current fair value as they vest.

Significant Factors, Assumptions and Methodologies Used in Determining Fair Value

Determining the fair value of our convertible preferred stock warrants, convertible debt derivatives and stock-based awards requires the use of
subjective assumptions used in the valuations of our securities we performed as a private and public company.

Valuations conducted in 2015, 2014 and 2013

A third-party valuation consultant was engaged to advise and assist us in connection with the valuations of our (i) Series AA preferred stock
warrants outstanding on December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2014, (ii) our convertible debt redemption rights derivative at issuance and at
December 31, 2014, (iii) our common stock options issued in August 2014 and (iv) our 2020 Convertible Notes derivative liability at issuance and at
March 31, 2015. Because our Series X preferred stock is entitled to a
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contingent liquidation preference which varies based on the total value of our equity, we were precluded from using a closed-form model, such as the Black-
Scholes option pricing method, to value the Series AA preferred stock warrants. Therefore, we employed a Monte Carlo simulation methodology for all
models used to determine the fair value of securities in our capital structure.

Common Stock and Preferred Stock Warrant Valuations

Our initial equity value, or EV, was determined by utilizing a risk-adjusted discounted cash flow model based upon market research and
management’s assessment thereof, which is an income approach and was corroborated with market data, coupled with a series of Monte Carlo simulations
which projected various equity values under different possible liquidity events including (i) initial public offering, or IPO, (ii) merger and acquisition, or
M&A, and (iii) stay-private, or SP, scenarios. The first two scenarios assume positive results from our recent Phase 2 clinical trial, while the third scenario
considered unfavorable results for valuations performed prior to December 31, 2014 and, at December 31, 2014, no IPO or M&A transaction.

Key assumptions underlying the discounted cash flow model are described below:

. Based on the research and industry knowledge of our officers and consultants, we developed projections of market penetration, product
selling prices and required infrastructure to estimate our future revenues and operating expenses to determine projected free cash flows
from our two current product candidates containing trabodenoson, through patent expiration.

. Probability of Success. To determine the probability of success for the various phases of development required for submission in an
NDA, we utilized the clinical trial success rates as published in certain reports.

. Time to Liquidity. All 2014 and 2013 valuations assumed liquidity events occurring between December 31, 2014 and April 1, 2015.
. Risk Free rates. Risk free rates are based on published or imputed government treasury rates as of each valuation date.

. Volatilities. Volatilities were derived from historical data from guideline publicly traded comparable companies. We used volatilities of
60% to 70% for the 2014 and 2013 valuations.

The Monte Carlo-simulated total equity values were then allocated to each type of security using a current value (waterfall) method under each
scenario and were then probability-adjusted using probability weights by scenario.

As of date: 1PO M&A SP

December 31, 2013 5% 20%  75%
March 31, 2014 10% 20% 70%
December 31, 2014 70% 25% 5%

Valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. Because our shares had characteristics significantly different from that of
publicly traded common stock and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable, single measure of the fair value of our Series AA preferred stock or Series X preferred
stock. The foregoing valuation methodologies are not the only valuation methodologies available and are not expected to be used to value our securities after
our IPO. We cannot make complete assurances as to any particular valuation for our securities. Accordingly, investors are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on the foregoing valuation methodologies as an indicator of future stock prices.

Convertible Debt Redemption Rights Derivative

The Convertible Bridge Notes redemption rights derivative required separate accounting and was valued using a single income valuation
approach. We estimated the fair value of the redemption rights derivative using a “with and without” income valuation approach. Under this approach, we
estimated the present value of the fixed interest rate debt based on the fair value of similar debt instruments excluding the embedded feature. This amount was
then compared to the fair value of the debt instrument including the embedded feature using a probability weighted approach by assigning each embedded
derivative feature a probability of occurrence, with consideration provided for the settlement amount including conversion discounts, prepayment penalties,
the expected life of the liability and the applicable discount rate.
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As of the issuance of the Convertible Bridge Notes on December 22, 2014 and on December 31, 2014, the Company ascribed a probability of
occurrence to the Change in Control Redemption Feature of 25%. The expected life of the feature was the remaining term of the debt and the discount rate
was 18.9%. The Company classified the liability within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as the probability factor and the discount rate are unobservable
inputs and significant to the valuation model. As of December 22, 2014 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of the embedded derivative was approximately
$0.5 million.

2020 Convertible Notes Derivative

Based on the characteristics of the (i) conversion option including make-whole provision, (ii) the Additional Interest, and (iii) the notes, we
estimated the fair value of the conversion option including make-whole and the Additional Interest using the “with” and “without” method. Using this
methodology, we first valued the notes with the conversion option including make-whole provision but excluding the Additional Interest (the “with” scenario)
and subsequently valued the notes without the conversion option including make-whole provision and excluding the Additional Interest (the “without”
scenario). The difference between the fair values of the notes in the “with” and “without” scenarios was the concluded fair value of the conversion option
including make-whole provision as of the measurement date. We developed an estimate of fair value for the notes excluding the Additional Interest using a
binomial lattice model. We modeled the decision to convert or hold by considering the maximum of the conversion or hold value at every node of the lattice
in which the notes are convertible and choosing the action that maximizes the return to the notes’ holders. The significant assumptions used in the binomial
model were: the market yield and the expected volatility.

We estimated the fair value of the Additional Interest using an income approach, specifically, the risk-neutral debt valuation method that is used
to derive the value of a debt instrument using the expected cash flows and the risk-free rate. The significant assumptions used in estimating the expected cash
flows were the market yield used to determine the risk-neutral probability of default and the expected recovery rate upon default.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under SEC rules.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These market risks are principally limited to interest rate fluctuations. We
had cash and cash equivalents of $53.1 million at March 31, 2015, consisting of funds in operating cash accounts. The primary objective of our investment
activities is to preserve principal and liquidity while maximizing income without significantly increasing risk. We do not enter into investments for trading or
speculative purposes. Due to the short-term nature of our investment portfolio, we do not believe an immediate 1.0% increase in interest rates would have a
material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio, and accordingly we do not expect a sudden change in market interest rates to affect materially our
operating results or cash flows.

Because our 2020 Convertible Notes bear interest at a fixed rate, a change in interest rates would not impact the amount of interest we would pay
on our indebtedness.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered
by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2015, our disclosure controls
and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and principal financial
officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred
during the quarter ended March 31, 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

29



Table of Contents

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings.

Item 1. A. Risk Factors

We operate in an industry that involves numerous risks and uncertainties. You should carefully consider the following information about these
risks, together with the other information appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015 and our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, including our financial statements and related notes included therein. The occurrence of any of the
following risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects. The risks and
uncertainties described below may change over time and other risks and uncertainties, including those that we do not currently consider material, may impair
our business. In these circumstances, the market price of our common stock could decline.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital
We currently have no source of revenue and may never become profitable.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. Our ability to generate revenue and become profitable
depends upon our ability to successfully complete the development of our product candidates for the treatment of glaucoma and obtain the necessary
regulatory approvals for our product candidates. We have never been profitable, have no products approved for commercial sale and to date have not
generated any revenue from product sales. Even if we receive regulatory approval for the sale of our product candidates, we do not know when such product
candidates will generate revenue, if at all. Our ability to generate product revenue depends on a number of factors, including our ability to:

. successfully complete clinical development, and receive regulatory approval, for our product candidates, including trabodenoson
monotherapy and trabodenoson with latanoprost as an FDC;

. set an acceptable price for our product candidates and obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;
. establish sales, marketing and distribution systems for our product candidates;
. add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our clinical,

manufacturing and planned future commercialization efforts;
. have commercial quantities of our product candidates manufactured at acceptable cost levels;

. successfully market and sell our product candidates in the United States and enter into partnerships or other arrangements to
commercialize our product candidates outside the United States; and

. maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio.

In addition, because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount
of increased expenses, or when, or if, we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. In addition, our expenses could increase beyond expectations if we
are required by the FDA and comparable non-U.S. regulatory authorities, or other regulatory authorities to perform studies or clinical trials in addition to
those that we currently anticipate. Even if our product candidates are approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with
the commercial launch of these products.
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Our ability to become and remain profitable depends on our ability to generate revenue. Even if we are able to generate revenues from the sale of
our product candidates, we may not become profitable and may need to obtain additional funding to continue operations. If we fail to become profitable or are
unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis, then we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and be forced to reduce our
operations. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become
and remain profitable would decrease the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business or continue our operations.

We have a history of net losses and anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future.

We have a history of losses and anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. Our net losses were $9.5 million,
$7.6 million, and $6.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and $1.5 million for the three months ended March 31,
2015. Investment in pharmaceutical product development is highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront expenditures and significant risk that a
product candidate will fail to gain regulatory approval or become commercially viable. We have devoted most of our financial resources to research and
development, including our non-clinical development activities and clinical trials. We are not currently generating revenues, and we cannot estimate with
precision the extent of our future losses. We do not currently have any products that are available for commercial sale and we may never generate revenue
from selling products or achieve profitability. We expect to continue to incur substantial and increasing losses through the projected commercialization of our
product candidates. None of our product candidates have been approved for marketing in the United States and may never receive such approval. As a result
of these factors, we are uncertain when or if we will achieve profitability and, if so, whether we will be able to sustain it. Our ability to produce revenue and
achieve profitability is dependent on our ability to complete the development of our product candidates, obtain necessary regulatory approvals, and have our
products manufactured and successfully marketed. We cannot assure you that we will be profitable even if we successfully commercialize our products.
Failure to become and remain profitable may adversely affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to raise capital and continue operations.

We have financed our operations with a combination of private and public grants and contracts and equity and preferred stock offerings. From
1997 to 2004, we have received non-dilutive funding totaling over $50 million through federal and private grants and contracts. Since 2004, we have raised
additional equity capital with funding from biotechnology and pharmaceutical investors. In February 2004, we completed the sale of approximately $20
million of Series A preferred stock. In October 2005, we completed the sale of $35 million of Series B preferred stock. In October of 2007, we completed the
sale of approximately $24 million of Series C preferred stock. In June 2011, we completed the sale of an aggregate of approximately $23.5 million of Series
AA preferred stock in four separate closings during the preceding year. In February 2013, we completed the sale of approximately $3.5 million of convertible
promissory notes in three separate closings during the preceding eight months. In July 2013, we completed the sale of an additional approximately $13.5
million of Series AA preferred stock, including the conversion of the convertible promissory notes, in two separate closings during the previous two months.
In December 2014, we completed the issuance and sale of $2.0 million of subordinated convertible promissory notes. Our product candidates will require the
completion of regulatory review, significant marketing efforts and substantial investment before they can provide us with any revenue.

In February 2015, we completed our IPO of 6,667,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $6.00 per share and our concurrent offering of
the 2020 Convertible Notes. In March 2015, the underwriters exercised 299,333 shares of common stock at $6.00 per share and $1.0 million of the 2020
Convertible Notes pursuant to their overallotment options. We received net proceeds of approximately $36.6 million, after deducting underwriting discounts
and offering-related costs, from our equity issuances and approximately $18.9 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and offering-
related costs, from our debt issuances.

We expect our research and development expenses to continue to be significant in connection with our product development activities, including
our planned Phase 2 clinical trials and our planned Phase 3 programs. In addition, if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, we expect to
incur increased sales and marketing expenses. As a result, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses and negative cash flows
for the foreseeable future. These losses have had and will continue to have a material adverse effect on our stockholders’ deficit, financial position, cash flows
and working capital.
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We will need to obtain additional financing to fund our operations and, if we are unable to obtain such financing, we may be unable to
complete the development and commercialization of our primary product candidates.

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. At March 31, 2015, our cash and cash equivalents were
$53.1 million. We believe that the net proceeds from our IPO and the 2020 Convertible Notes, together with existing cash and cash equivalents, will be
sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements for 18 months. We will need to obtain additional financing to conduct additional trials for the approval
of our drug candidates if requested by regulatory bodies, and complete the development of any additional product candidates we might acquire. Moreover, our
fixed expenses such as rent, interest expense and other contractual commitments are substantial and are expected to increase in the future.

Adequate additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on
attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or future potential commercialization efforts. Our
forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operating requirements is a forward-looking statement and
involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary as a result of a number of factors, including the factors discussed elsewhere in this “Risk
Factors” section. We have based this forecast on a number of assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and changing circumstances beyond our control may
cause us to consume capital more rapidly than we currently anticipate.

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

. the progress, timing, scope and costs of our clinical trials, including the ability to enroll patients in our planned and potential future
clinical trials in a timely manner;

. the time and cost necessary to obtain regulatory approvals that may be required by regulatory authorities;
. our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates;
. the amount of sales and other revenues from product candidates that we may commercialize, if any, including the selling prices for such

product candidates and the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third parties;

. selling and marketing costs associated with our product candidates, including the cost and timing of expanding our marketing and sales
capabilities;

. the terms and timing of any potential future collaborations, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish;

. cash requirements of any future acquisitions and/or the development of other product candidates;

. the costs of operating as a public company;

. the time and cost necessary to respond to technological and market developments;

. the costs of maintaining and expanding our existing intellectual property rights; and

. the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights.

Until we can generate a sufficient amount of revenue, we may finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, license
agreements, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, marketing or distribution arrangements or a combination thereof. Additional funds may not be
available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. General market conditions or the market price of our common stock may not
support capital raising transactions such as an additional public or private offering of our common stock or other securities. In addition, our ability to raise
additional capital may be dependent upon our stock’s continued listing on The NASDAQ Global Market, or NASDAQ, or upon obtaining shareholder
approval. There can be no assurance that we will be able to satisfy the criteria for continued listing on NASDAQ or that we will be able to obtain shareholder
approval if it is necessary. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay or reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our research or
development programs or our commercialization efforts.

We may seek to access the public or private capital markets whenever conditions are favorable, even if we do not have an immediate need for
additional capital at that time. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or product candidates or to grant
licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. Our inability to obtain additional funding when we need it could seriously harm our business.
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Additional capital that we may need to operate or expand our business may not be available. In addition, the agreements that govern our
existing indebtedness contain covenants that restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness and incur certain liens, for example.

We may require additional capital to operate or expand our business. The indenture governing our 2020 Convertible Notes contains covenants
that, among other things, restricts our and our future subsidiaries’ ability to take specific actions, even if we believe them to be in our best interest. These
covenants include restrictions on our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to (i) incur additional indebtedness and issue certain types of preferred stock,
other than certain permitted indebtedness and preferred stock; and (ii) incur liens, other than certain permitted liens. Any debt financing obtained by us in the
future could involve further restrictive covenants, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and pursue business opportunities.
Moreover, we may not redeem the existing notes pursuant to the indenture governing the notes prior to maturity though the indenture does not limit our ability
to make open-market purchases or tender offers for the notes at any time.

If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible securities, the percentage ownership of holders of our common stock
could be significantly diluted and these newly issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock.
Furthermore, volatility in the credit or equity markets may have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain debt or equity financing or the cost of such
financing. If we do not have funds available to enhance our solution, maintain the competitiveness of our technology and pursue business opportunities, this
could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization

We depend substantially on the success of our product candidates, particularly trabodenoson monotherapy and trabodenoson FDC, which
are still in development. If we are unable to successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates, or experience significant delays
in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

Our business and the ability to generate revenue related to product sales, if ever, will depend on the successful development, regulatory approval
and commercialization of our product candidates trabodenoson monotherapy and trabodenoson FDC, which are still in development, and other potential
products we may develop or license. We have invested a significant portion of our efforts and financial resources in the development of our existing product
candidates. The success of our product candidates will depend on several factors, including:

. successful completion of clinical trials, and the supporting non-clinical toxicology, formulation development, and manufacturing of
supplies for the clinical program in accordance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP;

. receipt of regulatory approvals from the FDA and other applicable regulatory authorities outside the United States;

. establishment of arrangements with third-party manufacturers;

. obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity;

. protecting our rights in our intellectual property;

. launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when approved;

. acceptance of any approved product by the medical community and patients;

. obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for product candidates, if and when approved;

. effectively competing with other products; and

. achieving a continued acceptable safety profile for our product candidates following regulatory approval, if and when received.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to
successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates, which would materially harm our business and we may not be able to earn sufficient
revenues and cash flows to continue our operations.
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Our product candidates are trabodenoson as a monotherapy and as an FDC consisting of trabodenoson with a prostaglandin analog, or PGA. We
have no other product candidates in our near term product pipeline. As a result, we are substantially dependent on the successful development and
commercialization of trabodenoson. If the results of our chronic toxicology program were to identify a safety problem, or if our upcoming pivotal trials of
trabodenoson monotherapy or our upcoming continuing Phase 2 program for the FDC product candidate were to demonstrate lack of efficacy in lowering
intraocular pressure, or IOP, or any safety issues related to trabodenoson, our development strategy would be materially and adversely affected.

We have not obtained regulatory approval for any of our product candidates in the United States or in any other country.

We currently do not have any product candidates that have gained regulatory approval for sale in the United States or in any other country, and
we cannot guarantee that we will ever have marketable products. Our business is substantially dependent on our ability to complete the development of,
obtain regulatory approval for and successfully commercialize product candidates in a timely manner. We cannot commercialize product candidates in the
United States without first obtaining regulatory approval to market each product from the FDA; similarly, we cannot commercialize product candidates
outside of the United States without obtaining regulatory approval from comparable foreign regulatory authorities. We have completed a Phase 2 trial in
which we tested trabodenoson co-administered with latanoprost. We are planning an End-of-Phase 2 meeting with the FDA for trabodenoson monotherapy in
the first half of 2015 and expect to initiate a pivotal Phase 3 program in mid-2015, which will consist of two Phase 3 pivotal trials and a long-term safety
study. We cannot predict whether any of our future trials, including our planned long-term safety trial of trabodenoson, will be successful or whether
regulators will agree with our conclusions regarding the preclinical studies and clinical trials we have conducted to date. Moreover, determination of the
ultimate study design and its confirmation with the FDA could result in a significant range of costs for the Phase 3 pivotal trials.

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any product candidate for a target indication, we must demonstrate in
preclinical studies and well-controlled clinical trials, and, with respect to approval in the United States, to the satisfaction of the FDA, that the product
candidate is safe and effective for use for that target indication and that the manufacturing facilities, processes and controls are adequate. In the United States,
we have not submitted a New Drug Application, or NDA, for any of our product candidates. An NDA must include extensive preclinical and clinical data and
supporting information to establish the product candidate’s safety and effectiveness for each desired indication. The NDA must also include significant
information regarding the chemistry, manufacturing and controls for the product. Obtaining approval of an NDA is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain
process, and approval may not be obtained. If we submit an NDA to the FDA, the FDA must decide whether to accept or reject the submission for filing. We
cannot be certain that any submissions will be accepted for filing and review by the FDA.

Regulatory authorities outside of the United States, such as in Europe and Japan and in emerging markets, also have requirements for approval of
drugs for commercial sale with which we must comply prior to marketing in those areas. Regulatory requirements can vary widely from country to country
and could delay or prevent the introduction of our product candidates. Clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities
in other countries, and obtaining regulatory approval in one country does not mean that regulatory approval will be obtained in any other country. Approval
processes vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and validation and additional administrative review periods. Seeking non-U.S.
regulatory approval could require additional non-clinical studies or clinical trials, which could be costly and time consuming. The non-U.S. regulatory
approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. For all of these reasons, we may not obtain non-U.S. regulatory
approvals on a timely basis, if at all.

The process to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize product candidates is long, complex and costly both inside and outside
of the United States, and approval is never guaranteed. Even if our product candidates were to successfully obtain approval from the regulatory authorities,
any approval might significantly limit the approved indications for use, or require that precautions, contraindications, or warnings be included on the product
labeling, or require expensive and time-consuming post-approval clinical trials or surveillance as conditions of approval. Following any approval for
commercial sale of our product candidates, certain changes to the product, such as changes in manufacturing processes and additional labeling claims, will be
subject to additional FDA review and approval. Also, regulatory approval for any of our product candidates may be withdrawn. If we are unable to obtain
regulatory approval for our product candidates in one or more jurisdictions, or any approval contains significant limitations, our target market will be reduced
and our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed. Furthermore, we may not be able to obtain sufficient funding or
generate sufficient revenue and cash flows to continue the development of any other product candidate in the future.
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Regulatory approval may be substantially delayed or may not be obtained for one or all of our product candidates if regulatory authorities
require additional time or studies to assess the safety and efficacy of our product candidates.

We may be unable to initiate or complete development of our product candidates on schedule, if at all. To complete the studies for our product
candidates we will require additional funding. In addition, if regulatory authorities require additional time or studies to assess the safety or efficacy of our
product candidates, we may not have or be able to obtain adequate funding to complete the necessary steps for approval for any or all of our product
candidates. Preclinical studies and clinical trials required to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates are time consuming and expensive
and together take several years or more to complete. Delays in regulatory approvals or rejections of applications for regulatory approval in the United States,
Europe, Japan or other markets may result from many factors, including:

. our inability to obtain sufficient funds required for a clinical trial;
. requests from regulatory authorities for additional analyses, reports, data, non-clinical and preclinical studies and clinical trials;
. questions from regulatory authorities regarding interpretations of data and results and the emergence of new information regarding our

product candidates or other products;

. clinical holds, other regulatory objections to commencing or continuing a clinical trial or the inability to obtain regulatory approval to
commence a clinical trial in countries that require such approvals;

. failure to reach agreement with the FDA or comparable non-US regulatory authorities regarding the scope or design of our clinical trials;

. our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients who meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria in our clinical trials. For example, we
are seeking patients with elevated levels of IOP for our clinical trials, which are more difficult to find;

. our inability to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols;

. our inability to reach agreements on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and trial sites, the terms
of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

. our inability to identify and maintain a sufficient number of sites, many of which may already be engaged in other clinical trial programs,
including some that may be for the same indications targeted by our product candidates;

. any determination that a clinical trial presents unacceptable health risks;

. lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial due to unforeseen costs or other business decisions;

. our inability to obtain approval from Institutional Review Boards, or IRBs, to conduct clinical trials at their respective sites;

. our inability to manufacture in a timely manner or obtain from third parties sufficient quantities or quality of the product candidates or

other materials required for a clinical trial;
. difficulty in maintaining contact with patients after treatment, resulting in incomplete data; and

. unfavorable or inconclusive results of clinical trials and supportive non-clinical studies, including unfavorable results regarding the
effectiveness of product candidates during clinical trials.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance may also occur and we may need to amend clinical trial protocols submitted to applicable
regulatory authorities to reflect these changes. Amendments may require us to resubmit clinical trial protocols to IRBs for re-examination, which may impact
the costs, timing or successful completion of a clinical trial.

As aresult of our planned End-of-Phase 2 meeting with the FDA for trabodenoson in the first half of 2015, the FDA may require us to conduct
additional clinical trials before we commence our Phase 3 pivotal trials and long-term safety study or they may require us to increase the size of or change the
design of our planned pivotal trials. In addition, if the FDA requires us to change the design of our planned pivotal trials, the actual costs of these trials may
be greater than what we estimated based on our current expectations regarding the design of these trials. If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials
or other studies with respect to any of our product candidates beyond those that we initially contemplated, if we are unable to successfully complete our
clinical trials
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or other studies or if the results of these studies are not positive or are only modestly positive, we may be delayed in obtaining regulatory approval for that
product candidate, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval at all or we may obtain approval for indications that are not as broad as intended. Our
product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or approvals and we may not have sufficient funding to complete the testing
and approval process. Significant clinical trial delays could allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and impair our ability to
commercialize our products if and when approved. If any of this occurs, our business will be materially harmed.

We have not yet successfully formulated, and may be unable to formulate or manufacture our fixed-dose combination product candidate in a
way that is suitable for clinical or commercial use. Any such delay or failure could materially harm our commercial prospects, result in
higher costs and deprive us of product candidate revenues.

We recently completed a Phase 2 trial to evaluate the efficacy, tolerability and safety of trabodenoson when co-administered with commercially-
available latanoprost eye drops. However, we have not yet formulated our FDC product candidate to include these two drugs in a single combination dose,
and we may never be able to formulate or manufacture our FDC product candidate in a way that is suitable for clinical or commercial use. Any delay or
failure to develop a suitable product formulation or manufacturing process for our FDC product candidate could materially harm our commercial prospects,
result in higher costs or deprive us of potential product revenues.

Failure can occur at any stage of clinical development. If the clinical trials for our product candidates are unsuccessful, we could be required
to abandon development.

A failure of one or more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing for a variety of reasons. The outcome of preclinical testing and early
clinical trials may not be predictive of the outcome of later clinical trials, and interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. In
addition, adverse events may occur or other risks may be discovered in any clinical trials that will cause us to suspend or terminate our clinical trials. In some
instances, there can be significant variability in safety and/or efficacy results between different trials of the same product candidate due to numerous factors,
including changes in or adherence to trial protocols, differences in size and type of the patient populations and the rates of dropout among clinical trial
participants. To date, we have only exposed 233 clinical trial subjects to trabodenoson. The FDA expects that a total of at least 1,500 patients will be exposed
to at least a single dose of trabodenoson before submission of an NDA, and the complete NDA submission package must also contain safety data from at
least 300 patients treated with trabodenoson for at least six months, and at least 100 patients treated for at least a year. Our future clinical trial results therefore
may not demonstrate safety and efficacy sufficient to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates. Moreover, we still need to evaluate the long-term
safety effects of our product candidates, the results of which could adversely affect our clinical development program.

Flaws in the design of a clinical trial may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well-advanced. We have limited experience in designing
clinical trials and may be unable to design and execute a clinical trial to support regulatory approval. In addition, clinical trials often reveal that it is not
practical or feasible to continue development efforts. Further, we have never submitted an NDA for any product candidates.

We may voluntarily suspend or terminate our clinical trials if at any time we believe that they present an unacceptable risk to participants.
Further, regulatory agencies, IRBs or data safety monitoring boards may at any time order the temporary or permanent discontinuation of our clinical trials or
request that we cease using investigators in the clinical trials if they believe that the clinical trials are not being conducted in accordance with applicable
regulatory requirements, or th